

Inhaled corticosteroids with combination inhaled long-acting beta₂-agonists and long-acting muscarinic antagonists for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Review)

Tan DJ, White CJ, Walters JAE, Walters EH

Tan DJ, White CJ, Walters JAE, Walters EH.

Inhaled corticosteroids with combination inhaled long-acting beta₂-agonists and long-acting muscarinic antagonists for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2016, Issue 11. Art. No.: CD011600. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011600.pub2.

www.cochranelibrary.com

WILEY

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| HEADER | 1 |
|----------------------------|----|
| ABSTRACT | 1 |
| PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY | 2 |
| BACKGROUND | 2 |
| OBJECTIVES | 4 |
| METHODS | 4 |
| Figure 1 | 6 |
| RESULTS | 8 |
| DISCUSSION | 8 |
| AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS | 9 |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | 9 |
| REFERENCES | 9 |
| CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES | 11 |
| DATA AND ANALYSES | 13 |
| APPENDICES | 13 |
| CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS | 18 |
| DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST | 18 |
| SOURCES OF SUPPORT | 18 |

i

[Intervention Review]

Inhaled corticosteroids with combination inhaled long-acting beta₂-agonists and long-acting muscarinic antagonists for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

Daniel J Tan¹, Clinton J White¹, Julia AE Walters², E. Haydn Walters³

¹School of Medicine, University of Tasmania, Hobart, Australia. ²School of Medicine, University of Tasmania, Hobart, Australia. ³NHMRC Centre of Research Excellence for Chronic Respiratory Disease, School of Medicine, University of Tasmania, Hobart, Australia

Contact address: Julia AE Walters, School of Medicine, University of Tasmania, MSP, 17 Liverpool Street, PO Box 23, Hobart, Tasmania, 7001, Australia. Julia.Walters@utas.edu.au.

Editorial group: Cochrane Airways Group. Publication status and date: New, published in Issue 11, 2016. Review content assessed as up-to-date: 20 September 2016.

Citation: Tan DJ, White CJ, Walters JAE, Walters EH. Inhaled corticosteroids with combination inhaled long-acting beta₂-agonists and long-acting muscarinic antagonists for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2016, Issue 11. Art. No.: CD011600. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011600.pub2.

Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Background

Management of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) commonly involves long-acting bronchodilators including betaagonists (LABA) and muscarinic antagonists (LAMA). In individuals with persistent symptoms or frequent exacerbations, inhaled corticosteroids (ICS) are also used. LABA and LAMA bronchodilators are now available in single combination inhalers. However, the benefits and risks of adding ICS to combination LABA/LAMA inhalers remains unclear.

Objectives

To assess the effect of adding an inhaled corticosteroid (ICS) to combination long-acting beta² -agonist (LABA)/long-acting muscarinic antagonist (LAMA) inhalers for the treatment of stable COPD.

Search methods

We carried out searches using the Cochrane Airways Group Specialised Register of Trials (searched 20 September 2016), Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL; 2015, Issue 12) in the Cochrane Library (searched 15 December 2015) and MEDLINE (searched 15 December 2015). We also searched ClinicalTrials.gov, World Health Organisation (WHO) trials portal and pharmaceutical company clinical trials' databases up to 7 January 2016.

Selection criteria

We included parallel-group, randomised controlled trials (RCTs) of three weeks' duration or longer which compared treatment of stable COPD with ICS in addition to combination LABA/LAMA inhalers against combination LABA/LAMA inhalers alone.

Data collection and analysis

We used standard methodological procedures expected by Cochrane.

Main results

We identified a total of 586 records in our search. Following removal of duplicates, 386 abstracts were assessed for inclusion. Six studies were identified as potentially relevant; however, all failed to meet the inclusion criteria on full-text assessment or after contacting the corresponding author to clarify study characteristics.

Authors' conclusions

There are currently no studies published assessing the effect of ICS in addition to combination LABA/LAMA inhalers for the treatment of stable COPD. As combination LABA/LAMA inhalers are now widely available, there is a need for well-designed RCTs to investigate whether ICS provides any added therapeutic benefit.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

In stable COPD, should inhaled corticosteroids be used with combination long-acting beta₂-agonist/long-acting muscarinic antagonist inhalers?

Why is this question important?

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), which includes chronic bronchitis and emphysema, is a common long-term lung disease often associated with smoking. Patients with COPD experience persistent symptoms including breathlessness, cough and phlegm production. COPD is commonly treated with a number of inhaled medications. These include long-acting bronchodilators (LABA and LAMA) that open (dilate) the airways; and inhaled corticosteroids (ICS), which are medications that suppress inflammation in the airways. In some individuals with particularly persistent symptoms or frequent exacerbations (episodes where their symptoms become worse), all three classes of these inhaled medications are used.

LABA and LAMA bronchodilators are now available in single combination inhalers. These combination inhalers have been found to improve adherence and patient outcomes. Presently, it is unclear whether using an ICS in addition to these new combination LABA/ LAMA inhalers provides any additional therapeutic benefit or risk of side-effects.

How did we answer this question?

We looked for all studies which compared treatment of stable COPD with ICS in addition to combination LABA/LAMA inhalers against combination LABA/LAMA inhalers alone. This process involved a detailed search of multiple electronic databases for trials up to 9 December 2015.

What did we find?

Our review did not identify any studies assessing the relative benefits and risks of these two treatment strategies.

Conclusion

No relevant trials have been published to date. We cannot confirm any benefit from this review of adding ICS to a combination LABA/ LAMA inhaler for the treatment of stable COPD.

BACKGROUND

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a common respiratory condition associated with substantial morbidity and mortality (GOLD 2016). It is currently the fourth leading cause of death worldwide (WHO 2012). In the Burden of Obstructive Lung Disease (BOLD) initiative, a large international study of

Description of the condition

Inhaled corticosteroids with combination inhaled long-acting beta₂-agonists and long-acting muscarinic antagonists for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Review) Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. COPD, the prevalence of stage II or higher COPD was reported to be 10.1% using the Global Initiative for Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD) definition of disease (Buist 2007; GOLD 2016).

The most common cause of COPD is tobacco smoke exposure. However, occupational dusts and air pollution have been identified as strong independent risk factors (GOLD 2016). Airway inflammation in COPD, caused by inhalation of noxious agents, causes small airways disease and parenchymal destruction. These changes impair expiratory flow and result in both resting and dynamic hyperinflation of the lungs (Bateman 2014). The characteristic symptoms of COPD include persistent breathlessness, cough and sputum production, all of which are usually progressive in nature.

The natural progression of COPD is characterised by episodes of clinical deterioration, termed exacerbations, which involve both increased airway and systemic inflammation (Wedzicha 2013). COPD exacerbations are associated with an increased risk of mortality, poorer quality of life, and long-term decline in lung function (Rennard 2004; Wang 2005). These effects are greater in those who experience frequent exacerbations (Vestbo 2011; Halpin 2012). Pharmacological treatment of COPD is therefore aimed at relieving symptoms, improving quality of life and preventing exacerbations (GOLD 2016).

Description of the intervention

Bronchodilators are a key aspect of the pharmacological management of COPD, usually following a stepwise approach in which short-acting agents are used initially to control symptoms (NICE 2010; COPDX 2016; GOLD 2016). In individuals with persistent symptoms, combined bronchodilators of different classes are recommended to maximise bronchodilation. Inhaled long-acting

beta² -agonists (LABA) and long-acting muscarinic antagonists (LAMA) are most commonly used.

The mechanism of bronchodilation by LABA and LAMA agents is

achieved by different pathways. Beta² -agonists stimulate adenylyl cyclase activity and directly cause smooth muscle relaxation while muscarinic antagonists inhibit the action of acetylcholine on airway muscarinic (M3) receptors and indirectly cause smooth muscle relaxation (de Miguel-Díez 2014). Drugs in both classes of bronchodilator, LABA and LAMA, are beneficial for quality of life and lung function in COPD both individually and when given together (Kew 2014a).

Although LABA and LAMA agents have conventionally been administered via separate inhalers, new combination inhalers have been developed. These combination inhalers may promote adherence and improve patient-centred outcomes (van der Molen 2012). Moreover, combined LABA/LAMA inhalers have demonstrated superior efficacy compared to the individual components, with similar safety profiles (Rodrigo 2014; Farne 2015). Current combinations include:

- Aclidinium/Formoterol;
- Glycopyrronium/Indacaterol;
- Umeclidinium/Vilanterol; and
- Tiotropium/Olodaterol.

GOLD guidelines recommend triple therapy with inhaled corticosteroids (ICS), LABA and LAMA in patients with persistent symptoms and a high risk of exacerbations (Group D) who are unresponsive to ICS/LABA or LAMA therapy alone (GOLD 2016). In contrast, UK guidelines recommend the addition of LAMA in individuals who remain breathless or have exacerbations despite taking LABA/ICS, irrespective of their forced expiratory volume

in one second (FEV1) (NICE 2010).

Evidence on the efficacy of triple therapy compared to dual bronchodilator therapy is, however, limited to a small number of clinical trials (Gaebel 2011). Findings from the WISDOM (Withdrawal of Inhaled Glucocorticoids and Exacerbations of COPD) trial suggest that the beneficial effect of ICS therapy may be limited to achieving an initial phase of clinical stability in patients with stable COPD. However, the long-term role of ICS therapy in COPD management remains unclear (Magnussen 2014). Little is known specifically about the efficacy of ICS used in addition to new combination LABA/LAMA inhalers. This topic will be the focus of this review.

How the intervention might work

As individual classes of treatment in COPD, LABA and LAMA are effective in improving health-related quality of life, improving lung function outcomes (Geake 2015), and reducing exacerbations (Kew 2013). A slightly larger improvement in health-related quality of life and lung function is seen when Tiotropium (LAMA) is added to a LABA, compared with either agent alone (Karner 2012; Farne 2015). A network meta-analysis of treatment options specifically for patients with severe COPD (FEV predicted 40% to 50%) who required additional treatment to short-acting bronchodilators, found that combination ICS/LABA was the highest ranked intervention for improving quality of life compared to placebo at six and 12 months (Kew 2014a). LAMA and LABA therapy were independently ranked second and third, and ICS alone was ranked fourth at six months, although class differences between LABA, LAMA and ICS were less prominent at 12 months.

ICS are anti-inflammatory drugs that in COPD reduce the rate of exacerbation and improve quality of life, although they do not have a significant effect on overall mortality or on the overall long-term decline in FEV (Yang 2012). Responsiveness to ICS varies (Miravitlles 2011). It may be related to an eosinophilic inflammatory profile (Siva 2007; Miravitlles 2011), an obstructivedominant rather than an emphysema-dominant phenotype (Lee 2009), and may be predicted by a bronchial hyperresponsiveness (BHR) (Leuppi 2005), or by elevated levels of exhaled nitric oxide

Inhaled corticosteroids with combination inhaled long-acting beta₂-agonists and long-acting muscarinic antagonists for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Review)

Copyright $\textcircled{\sc 0}$ 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

(Kunisaki 2008). In contrast, ICS delivered alone or in combination with a LABA is associated with an increased risk of pneumonia, although no increase in mortality has been reported (Spencer 2011; Kew 2014b). There is currently insufficient evidence to confirm any benefit of adding ICS to LABA or LAMA in COPD (Karner 2011).

Why it is important to do this review

The best combination of therapeutic agents for the treatment of COPD has yet to be established. A review to assess the recently introduced combination LABA/LAMA inhalers against placebo, and their individual components is in preparation (Sarai 2014). However, the effect of adding regular ICS to combination LABA/LAMA inhalers for treatment of COPD is not yet known, and this is the focus of this review.

OBJECTIVES

To assess the effect of adding an inhaled corticosteroid (ICS)

to combination long-acting beta² -agonist (LABA)/long-acting muscarinic antagonist (LAMA) inhalers for the treatment of stable COPD.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

We included parallel-group randomised controlled trials (RCTs) that were reported as full-text articles, abstract only, or as unpublished data. We excluded studies of less than three weeks' duration due to the expected delayed onset of ICS activity.

Types of participants

We included all participants with a diagnosis of stable COPD and recorded the study authors' definition of stable COPD. We did not exclude participants with significant co-morbidities.

Types of interventions

We included studies comparing combination LABA/LAMA inhalers plus an ICS versus combination LABA/LAMA combination inhalers without an ICS (with or without placebo control).

Types of outcome measures

Primary outcomes

1. Acute exacerbation of COPD (AECOPD): defined as needing treatment with oral steroids, antibiotics or hospital attendance for a COPD exacerbation, or a combination of these treatments. Exacerbation events based on standardised patientreported outcome tools for measuring changes in symptoms were also accepted.

2. **Respiratory health-related quality of life (HRQoL):** measured by the Chronic Respiratory Questionnaire (CRQ) or St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ).

3. **Pneumonia and other serious adverse events:** defined as requiring treatment or hospital admission for pneumonia or other serious adverse events.

Secondary outcomes

• **Symptom score:** measures of breathlessness, cough, wheeze and sputum production, preferably using validated scales.

• Lung function: pre-bronchodilator (BD) and post-BD measure including FEV and FVC.

- Physical capacity: measures including timed walking tests, endurance tests.
 - Mortality

Reporting one or more of the outcomes listed here was not an inclusion criterion for studies in this review.

Search methods for identification of studies

Electronic searches

We identified studies from the Cochrane Airways Group Specialised Register (CAGR), which is maintained by the Information Specialist for the Group. The Register contains trial reports identified through systematic searches of bibliographic databases including the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CEN-TRAL), MEDLINE, Embase, the Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature (CINAHL), the Allied and Complementary Medicine Database (AMED) and PsycINFO, and through handsearching of respiratory journals and meeting abstracts (see Appendix 1 for further details). We searched all records in the CAGR using the search strategy presented in Appendix 2 up to 20 September 2016. We also searched CENTRAL and MED-LINE, limited to the previous 24 months, for additional studies (see Appendix 3 for further details) on 15 December 2015. We imposed no restriction on the language of publication.

Inhaled corticosteroids with combination inhaled long-acting beta₂-agonists and long-acting muscarinic antagonists for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Review)

Searching other resources

We screened the reference lists of all primary studies and review articles for additional references. We also conducted a search of ClinicalTrials.gov (www.ClinicalTrials.gov), the World Health Organization (WHO) trials portal (www.who.int/ictrp/en/) and clinical trial databases of pharmaceutical companies manufacturing combination LAMA/LABA inhalers (GSK, Novartis, Boehringer Ingelheim, AstraZeneca, Forest Laboratories) up to 7 January 2016.

Data collection and analysis

Selection of studies

Two review authors (DT, CW) independently screened the titles and abstracts of all records identified as a result of the search. Eligible or potentially eligible records were retrieved in full-text and independently screened by two review authors (DT, CW) to identify studies for inclusion and record reasons for exclusion of ineligible studies. Disagreements were resolved through discussion; or, if required, in consultation with a third review author (JW). We identified and excluded duplicates and collated multiple reports of the same study, so that each study rather than each report was the unit of interest in the review. We recorded the selection process as a PRISMA flow diagram (Figure 1).



Inhaled corticosteroids with combination inhaled long-acting beta2-agonists and long-acting muscarinic antagonists for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Review)

Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

6

Data extraction and management

Two review authors (DT, CW) planned to independently extract outcome data from the included studies using a data collection form. Data for extraction included the following:

1. **Methods:** study design, total duration of study, details of any 'run-in' period, number of study centres and locations, study setting, withdrawals and date of study;

2. **Participants:** N, mean age, age range, gender, severity of condition, diagnostic criteria, baseline lung function, smoking history, inclusion criteria and exclusion criteria;

3. **Interventions:** intervention, comparison, concomitant medications and excluded medications;

4. **Outcomes:** primary and secondary outcomes specified and collected and time points reported;

5. **Other:** funding for study and notable conflicts of interest of study authors.

When disagreements occurred, a third review author (JW) would arbitrate. We planned for one review author (DT) to transfer data into Review Manager 5 (RevMan 2014), which were then to be double checked by a second review author (CW) for accuracy.

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

Two review authors (DT, CW) planned to independently review and assess risk of bias for each included study using the criteria outlined in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2011). We planned to discuss areas of disagreement with a third review author (JW). Criteria for assessing risk of bias included:

- 1. Random sequence generation.
- 2. Allocation concealment.
- 3. Blinding of participants and personnel.
- 4. Blinding of outcome assessment.
- 5. Incomplete outcome data.
- 6. Selective outcome reporting.
- 7. Other biases.

We planned to grade each potential source of bias as 'high', 'low' or 'unclear' and to provide a quote from the study report along with a justification for our judgement in a 'Risk of bias' table. We planned to summarize the risk of bias judgements across different studies for each domain listed.

Measures of treatment effect

We expected to encounter both dichotomous and continuous data. We planned to analyse dichotomous data as odds ratios (OR), continuous data as mean differences (MD) or standardised mean differences (SMD), and narratively describe skewed data reported as medians and interquartile ranges. We also planned to undertake meta-analyses only of studies with sufficient similarity (e.g. treatments, participants, clinical question) to derive meaningful pooled estimates. Where multiple trial arms were reported in a single trial, we would only include relevant arms. Where two comparisons (e.g. drug A versus placebo and drug B versus placebo) were combined in the same meta-analysis, we planned to halve the control group to avoid double-counting.

Unit of analysis issues

We planned to use participants, rather than events, as the unit of analysis to avoid counting participants more than once.

Dealing with missing data

We contacted investigators to verify key study characteristics and to obtain missing numerical outcome data when possible (e.g. when a study was identified as an abstract only). If these were not available, and the study authors did not report the true intention-to-treat (ITT) data, we intended to perform an available case analysis by including data for all participants for whom data were collected (whether or not participants completed the trial) and sensitivity analyses to explore the impact of including such studies in the overall assessment of results.

Assessment of heterogeneity

We planned to use the I² statistic to measure heterogeneity among the studies in each analysis. If we identified substantial heterogeneity (< 39% unimportant, 40% to 60% moderate, 60% to 100% substantial), we planned to report this and explore possible causes by subgroup analysis.

Assessment of reporting biases

We planned to create standard funnel plots to explore possible small-study and publication biases if we pooled more than 10 studies. We planned to assess reporting bias according to the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* and grade potential sources as high, moderate or low risk (Higgins 2011).

Data synthesis

In the absence of significant heterogeneity, we planned to combine study results using a fixed-effect model. Where heterogeneity was significant ($I^2 > 40\%$) we planned to perform a sensitivity analysis using a random-effects model.

Inhaled corticosteroids with combination inhaled long-acting beta₂-agonists and long-acting muscarinic antagonists for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Review)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\textcircled{O}}$ 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

We intended to explore potential causes of heterogeneity by performing the following subgroup analyses:

• Different LAMA/LABA combinations.

• Baseline COPD severity (severe to very severe versus mixed population).

• Blood or sputum eosinophilia (eosinophilia versus no eosinophilia).

• Length of follow-up (less than six months versus six months or longer).

• Baseline ICS use (participants with baseline ICS use versus participants without baseline ICS use).

Sensitivity analysis

We intended to carry out the following sensitivity analyses.

• A comparison based on our risk of bias assessments.

• A comparison of available case analyses versus true ITT analyses, when the ITT analyses are imputed with best-case and worse-case outcome data.

• A comparison of results from fixed-effect models versus results from random-effects models.

RESULTS

Description of studies

Results of the search

We identified a total of 586 records in our search (Figure 1). After removal of duplicates, 386 abstracts were assessed for inclusion. Six records, arising from four studies, were identified as potentially relevant. All failed to meet the inclusion criteria on full-text assessment or after contacting the corresponding authors to clarify study characteristics (see: Characteristics of excluded studies). No on-going trials were identified in the search of ClinicalTrials.gov (www.ClinicalTrials.gov), the World Health Organization (WHO) trials portal (www.who.int/ictrp/en/) or clinical trial databases of pharmaceutical companies manufacturing combination LAMA/LABA inhalers.

Included studies

No studies met the inclusion criteria for this review.

Excluded studies

A total of four studies (six full-text articles) were excluded (Bölükbas 2011; Hara 2007; James 2013; Magnussen 2014). The reason for exclusion for all four studies was incorrect intervention.

Risk of bias in included studies

Not applicable.

Allocation

Not applicable.

Blinding

Not applicable.

Incomplete outcome data

Not applicable.

Selective reporting

Not applicable.

Other potential sources of bias

Not applicable.

Effects of interventions

Not applicable.

DISCUSSION

Summary of main results

This systematic review did not identify any on-going or completed randomised controlled trials comparing the treatment of stable COPD with ICS plus combination LABA/LAMA inhalers against combination LABA/LAMA inhalers alone.

Overall completeness and applicability of evidence

Not applicable.

Quality of the evidence

Not applicable.

Inhaled corticosteroids with combination inhaled long-acting beta₂-agonists and long-acting muscarinic antagonists for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Review)

Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

-

Potential biases in the review process

Not applicable.

Agreements and disagreements with other studies or reviews

Combination LABA/LAMA inhalers are now widely available and have demonstrated improvements in lung function and symptom score when compared to placebo or the components individually (Rodrigo 2014). There is strong evidence to support the role of regular ICS therapy in some COPD patients, particularly those with severe to very severe disease and those at a high risk of exacerbations (Calverley 2007; GOLD 2016). Existing evidence suggests that ICS therapy in COPD reduces rates of exacerbation, reduces the rate of decline in quality of life, and possibly reduces the rate of decline in lung function (Yang 2012). ICS therapy, however, is also associated with increased risk of oropharyngeal candidiasis and pneumonia (Kew 2014b; Yang 2012). The specific risk versus benefit profile of adding ICS to new combination LABA/LAMA inhalers remains unclear.

There is some evidence that stepwise withdrawal of ICS after achieving a period of clinical stability may be non-inferior to longterm triple therapy in respect to exacerbation frequency in patients with severe but stable COPD (Magnussen 2014). In contrast, abrupt withdrawal of ICS has been associated with increased exacerbation frequency and reduced health-related quality of life (van der Valk 2002). Evidence from these studies should be considered when determining the optimal role of ICS added to combination LABA/LAMA inhalers.

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

No relevant randomised controlled trials have been published to date. We cannot confirm any benefit from this review for the addition of ICS to a combination LABA/LAMA inhaler for the treatment of stable COPD.

Implications for research

There is a need for well-designed randomised controlled trials to investigate whether addition of ICS to combination LABA/LAMA inhalers provides any therapeutic benefit.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Background and Methods sections of this review are based on a standard template used by Cochrane Airways.

Rebecca Normansell was the Contact Editor for this review and commented critically on the review.

This project was supported by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR), via Cochrane Infrastructure funding to the Cochrane Airways Group. The views and opinions expressed therein are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the Systematic Reviews Programme, NIHR, NHS, or the Department of Health.

REFERENCES

References to studies excluded from this review

Bölükbas 2011 {published data only}

Bölükbas S, Eberlein M, Eckhoff J, Schirren J. Short-term effects of inhalative tiotropium/formoterol/budesonide versus tiotropium/formoterol in patients with newly diagnosed chronic obstructive pulmonary disease requiring surgery for lung cancer: a prospective randomised trial. *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery* 2011;**39**(6): 995–1000. [4446940]

Hara 2007 {published data only}

Hara K, Kurashima K, Tokunaga D, Ueno M, Aoyagi K, Isobe Z, et al. Single blind comparison of tiotropium and salmeterol plus fluticasone propionate of treatment in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) [Abstract]. American Thoracic Society International Conference; 2007 May 18-23; San Francisco. San Francisco, California, USA, 2007:Poster #A1. [4446942]

James 2013 [published data only (unpublished sought but not used)] James SP, Paul D, Prabhu D, Venugopal KP. A comparative study on inhaled corticosteroids versus placebo in management of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Lung India 2013;30(Suppl 1):S29. [4446944]

Magnussen 2014 {published data only}

Magnussen H, Disse B, Rodriguez-Roisin R, Kirsten A, Watz H, Tetzlaff K, et al. Exacerbation risk is not worse when ICS are withdrawn in a stepwise manner in severe to very severe COPD patients receiving LAMA+LABA: The WISDOM study. *Chest* 2014;**146**(4):63A. [4446946] Magnussen H, Disse B, Rodriguez-Roisin R, Kirsten A, Watz H, Tetzlaff K, et al. The impact of stepwise withdrawal of ICS on FEV1, mMRC, and SQRQ in severe to very severe COPD patients treated with LAMA+LABA: The WISDOM study. *Chest* 2014;**146**(4):76A. [4446947] * Magnussen H, Disse B, Rodriguez-Roisin R, Kirsten A, Watz H, Tetzlaff K, et al. Withdrawal of inhaled glucocorticoids and exacerbations of COPD. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2014;**371**(14):1285–94. [4446948]

Inhaled corticosteroids with combination inhaled long-acting beta₂-agonists and long-acting muscarinic antagonists for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Review)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\textcircled{0}}$ 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Additional references

Bateman 2014

Bateman ED, Mahler DA, Vogelmeier CF, Wedzicha JA, Patalano F, Banerji D. Recent advances in COPD disease management with fixed-dose long-acting combination therapies. *Expert Review of Respiratory Medicine* 2014;**8**(3): 357–79.

Buist 2007

Buist AS, McBurnie MA, Vollmer WM, Gillespie S, Burney P, Mannino DM, et al. International variation in the prevalence of COPD (the BOLD study): a populationbased prevalence study. *The Lancet* 2007;**370**(9589): 741–50.

Calverley 2007

Calverley PM, Anderson JA, Celli B, Ferguson GT, Jenkins C, Jones PW, et al. Salmeterol and fluticasone propionate and survival in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2007;**356**(8):775–89.

COPDX 2016

COPD Guidelines Steering Committee, on behalf of Lung Foundation Australia and the Thoracic Society of Australia and New Zealand. The COPD-X Plan: Australian and New Zealand guidelines for the management of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. http://www.copdx.org.au/ (V2.45, March 2016 accessed 3 August 2016).

de Miguel-Díez 2014

de Miguel-Díez J, Jiménez-García R. Considerations for new dual-acting bronchodilator treatments for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Expert Opinion on Investigational Drugs* 2014;**23**(4):453–6.

Farne 2015

Farne HA, Cates CJ. Long-acting beta₂-agonist in addition to tiotropium versus either tiotropium or long-acting beta₂agonist alone for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2015, Issue 10. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD008989.pub3]

Gaebel 2011

Gaebel K, McIvor RA, Xie F, Blackhouse G, Robertson D, Assasi N, et al. Triple therapy for the management of COPD: a review. *COPD* 2011;**8**(3):206–43. [DOI: 10.3109/15412555.2011.560131]

Geake 2015

Geake JB, Dabscheck EJ, Wood-Baker R, Cates CJ. Indacaterol, a once-daily beta2-agonist, versus twice-daily beta2-agonists or placebo for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 2015, issue 1. [DOI: 10.1002/ 14651858.CD010139.pub2]

GOLD 2016

GOLD. Global Strategy for the Diagnosis, Management and Prevention of COPD (Updated 2016). http:// www.goldcopd.org/ (accessed 6 July 2016).

Halpin 2012

Halpin DMG, Decramer M, Celli B, Kesten S, Liu D, Tashkin DP. Exacerbation frequency and course of COPD. International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease 2012;7:653–61.

Higgins 2011

Higgins JP, Green S, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from handbook.cochrane.org.

Karner 2011

Karner C, Cates CJ. The effect of adding inhaled corticosteroids to tiotropium and long-acting beta₂-agonists for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2011, Issue 9. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD009039.pub2]

Karner 2012

Karner C, Cates CJ. Long-acting beta2-agonist in addition to tiotropium versus either tiotropium or long-acting beta2agonist alone for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2012, Issue 4. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD008989.pub2]

Kew 2013

Kew KM, Mavergames C, Walters JAE. Long-acting beta₂-agonists for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2013, Issue 10. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD010177.pub2]

Kew 2014a

Kew KM, Dias S, Cates CJ. Long-acting inhaled therapy (beta-agonists, anticholinergics and steroids) for COPD: a network meta-analysis. *Cochrane Database* of *Systematic Reviews* 2014, Issue 3. [DOI: 10.1002/ 14651858.CD010844.pub2]

Kew 2014b

Kew KM, Seniukovich A. Inhaled steroids and risk of pneumonia for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2014, Issue 3. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD010115.pub2]

Kunisaki 2008

Kunisaki KM, Rice KL, Janoff EN, Rector TS, Niewoehner DE. Exhaled nitric oxide, systemic inflammation, and the spirometric response to inhaled fluticasone propionate in severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a prospective study. *Therapeutic Advances in Respiratory Disease* 2008;**2** (2):55–64.

Lee 2009

Lee J-H, Lee YK, Kim E-K, Kim T-H, Huh JW, Kim WJ, et al. Responses to inhaled long-acting beta-agonist and corticosteroid according to COPD subtype. *Respiratory Medicine* 2009;**104**(4):542–9.

Leuppi 2005

Leuppi JD, Tandjung R, Anderson SD, Stolz D, Brutsche MH, Bingisser R, et al. Prediction of treatment-response to inhaled corticosteroids by mannitol-challenge test in COPD. A proof of concept. *Pulmonary Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 2005;**18**(2):83–8.

Inhaled corticosteroids with combination inhaled long-acting beta₂-agonists and long-acting muscarinic antagonists for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Review)

Miravitlles 2011

Miravitlles M. Arguments in favor of inhaled corticosteroids in COPD by phenotype instead of by severity. *Archivos de Bronconeumologia (English Version)* 2011;**4**7(6):271–3.

NICE 2010

National Clinical Guideline Centre. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: management of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in adults in primary and secondary care (partial update). https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg101 (accessed 11 December 2014).

Rennard 2004

Rennard SI, Farmer SG. Exacerbations and progression of disease in asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society* 2004;**1** (2):88–92.

RevMan 2014 [Computer program]

The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration. Review Manager (RevMan). Version 5.3. Copenhagen: The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2014.

Rodrigo 2014

Rodrigo GJ, Plaza V. Efficacy and safety of a fixed-dose combination of indacaterol and glycopyrronium for the treatment of COPD: a systematic review. *Chest* 2014;**146** (2):309–17.

Sarai 2014

Sarai M, Sin D, FitzGerald MJM, Aaron S. Long-acting beta₂-agonists and long-acting muscarinic antagonists in a combined inhaler versus either agent alone or placebo for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2014, Issue 9. [DOI: 10.1002/ 14651858.CD011282]

Siva 2007

Siva R, Green RH, Brightling C E, Shelley M, Hargadon B, McKenna S, et al. Eosinophilic airway inflammation and exacerbations of COPD: a randomised controlled trial. *European Respiratory Journal* 2007;**29**(5):906–13.

Spencer 2011

Spencer S, Karner C, Cates CJ, Evans DJ. Inhaled corticosteroids versus long-acting beta2-agonists for chronic

obstructive pulmonary disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2011, Issue 12. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD007033.pub2]

van der Molen 2012

van der Molen T, Cazzola M. Beyond lung function in COPD management: effectiveness of LABA/LAMA combination therapy on patient-centred outcomes. *Primary Care Respiratory Journal* 2012;**21**(1):101–8.

van der Valk 2002

van der Valk P, Monninkhof E, van der Palen J, Zielhuis G, van Herwaarden C. Effect of discontinuation of inhaled corticosteroids in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: the COPE study. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2002;**166**(10): 1358–63.

Vestbo 2011

Vestbo J, Edwards LD, Scanlon PD, Yates JC, Agusti A, Bakke P, et al. Changes in forced expiratory volume in 1 second over time in COPD. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2011;**365**(13):1184–92.

Wang 2005

Wang Q, Bourbeau J. Outcomes and health-related quality of life following hospitalisation for an acute exacerbation of COPD. *Respirology* 2005;**10**(3):334–40.

Wedzicha 2013

Wedzicha JA, Brill SE, Allinson JP, Donaldson GC. Mechanisms and impact of the frequent exacerbator phenotype in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *BMC Medicine* 2013;**11**:181.

WHO 2012

World Health Organization. WHO Global Report: mortality attributable to tobacco. http://whqlibdoc.who.int/ publications/2012/9789241564434 eng.pdf. Geneva: WHO, (accessed 11 December 2014).

Yang 2012

Yang IA, Clarke MS, Sim EH, Fong KM. Inhaled corticosteroids for stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2012, Issue
7. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002991.pub3]

* Indicates the major publication for the study

CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

| Study | Reason for exclusion |
|----------------|--|
| Bölükbas 2011 | Incorrect Intervention: comparison of LAMA + LABA/ICS versus LAMA + LABA (separate inhalers) |
| Hara 2007 | Incorrect Intervention: comparison of LAMA versus LABA/ICS |
| James 2013 | Incorrect Intervention: comparison of LABA + LAMA (separate inhalers) versus LABA + LAMA + ICS (separate inhalers). Corresponding author contacted - the authors were blinded to the specific inhalers used. They were unable to provide further details |
| Magnussen 2014 | Incorrect Intervention: WISDOM study - comparison of LABA + LAMA + ICS (separate inhalers) versus LABA + LAMA + stepwise withdrawal of ICS (separate inhalers) |

DATA AND ANALYSES

This review has no analyses.

APPENDICES

Appendix I. Sources and search methods for the Cochrane Airways Group Specialised Register (CAGR)

Electronic searches: core databases

| Database | Frequency of search |
|--------------------------------|---------------------|
| CENTRAL (The Cochrane Library) | Monthly |
| MEDLINE (Ovid) | Weekly |
| Embase (Ovid) | Weekly |
| PsycINFO (Ovid) | Monthly |
| CINAHL (EBSCO) | Monthly |
| AMED (EBSCO) | Monthly |

Handsearches: core respiratory conference abstracts

| Conference | Years searched |
|--|----------------|
| American Academy of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology (AAAAI) | 2001 onwards |
| American Thoracic Society (ATS) | 2001 onwards |
| Asia Pacific Society of Respirology (APSR) | 2004 onwards |
| British Thoracic Society Winter Meeting (BTS) | 2000 onwards |
| Chest Meeting | 2003 onwards |

Inhaled corticosteroids with combination inhaled long-acting beta $_2$ -agonists and long-acting muscarinic antagonists for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Review)

(Continued)

| European Respiratory Society (ERS) | 1992, 1994, 2000 onwards |
|---|--------------------------|
| International Primary Care Respiratory Group Congress (IPCRG) | 2002 onwards |
| Thoracic Society of Australia and New Zealand (TSANZ) | 1999 onwards |

MEDLINE search strategy used to identify trials for the CAGR

COPD search

- 1. Lung Diseases, Obstructive/
- 2. exp Pulmonary Disease, Chronic Obstructive/
- 3. emphysema\$.mp.
- 4. (chronic\$ adj3 bronchiti\$).mp.
- 5. (obstruct\$ adj3 (pulmonary or lung\$ or airway\$ or airflow\$ or bronch\$ or respirat\$)).mp.
- 6. COPD.mp.
- 7. COAD.mp.
- 8. COBD.mp.
- 9. AECB.mp.
- 10. or/1-9

Filter to identify RCTs

exp "clinical trial [publication type]"/
 (randomised or randomised).ab,ti.
 placebo.ab,ti.
 dt.fs.
 randomly.ab,ti.
 trial.ab,ti.
 groups.ab,ti.
 or/1-7
 Animals/
 Humans/
 11. 9 not (9 and 10)
 8 not 11
 The MEDLINE strategy and RCT filter are adapted to identify trials in other electronic databases.

Appendix 2. CAGR search strategy

#1 MeSH DESCRIPTOR Pulmonary Disease, Chronic Obstructive Explode All #2 MeSH DESCRIPTOR Bronchitis, Chronic #3 (obstruct*) near3 (pulmonary or lung* or airway* or airflow* or bronch* or respirat*) #4 COPD:MISC1 #5 (COPD OR COAD OR COBD):TI,AB,KW #6 #1 OR #2 OR #3 OR #4 OR #5 #7 LAMA #8 MeSH DESCRIPTOR Muscarinic Antagonists #9 tiotropium #10 aclidinium #11 glycopyrronium #12 umeclidinium #13 darotropium OR GSK233705 #14 #7 OR #8 OR #9 OR #10 OR #11 OR #12 OR #13 #15 LABA #16 MeSH DESCRIPTOR Adrenergic beta-2 Receptor Agonists #17 salmeterol #18 formoterol #19 bambuterol #20 vilanterol #21 indacaterol #22 olodaterol #23 carmoterol #24 abediterol OR LAS100977 #25 PF-610355 #26 #15 OR #16 OR #17 OR #18 OR #19 OR #20 OR #21 OR #22 OR #23 OR #24 #27 QVA149 #28 (#14 and #26) OR #27 #29 ICS:TI,AB #30 inhal* NEAR2 (corticosteroid* or steroid*) #31 fluticasone #32 budesonide #33 beclomethasone #34 triamcinolone #35 flunisolide #36 #29 OR #30 OR #31 OR #32 OR #33 OR #34 OR #35 #37 #6 AND #28 AND #36

Appendix 3. CENTRAL, MEDLINE (PubMed) and Embase search strategies

CENTRAL

#1 MeSH DESCRIPTOR Pulmonary Disease, Chronic Obstructive Explode All
#2 MeSH DESCRIPTOR Bronchitis, Chronic
#3 (obstruct*) near3 (pulmonary or lung* or airway* or airflow* or bronch* or respirat*)
#4 COPD:MISC1
#5 (COPD OR COAD OR COBD):TI,AB,KW
#6 #1 OR #2 OR #3 OR #4 OR #5
#7 LAMA
#8 MeSH DESCRIPTOR Muscarinic Antagonists

Inhaled corticosteroids with combination inhaled long-acting beta₂-agonists and long-acting muscarinic antagonists for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Review) Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. #9 tiotropium #10 aclidinium #11 glycopyrronium #12 umeclidinium #13 darotropium OR GSK233705 #14 #7 OR #8 OR #9 OR #10 OR #11 OR #12 OR #13 #15 LABA #16 MeSH DESCRIPTOR Adrenergic beta-2 Receptor Agonists #17 salmeterol #18 formoterol #19 bambuterol #20 vilanterol #21 indacaterol #22 olodaterol #23 carmoterol #24 abediterol OR LAS100977 #25 PF-610355 #26 #15 OR #16 OR #17 OR #18 OR #19 OR #20 OR #21 OR #22 OR #23 OR #24 OR #25 #27 QVA149 #28 (#14 and #26) OR #27 #29 ICS:TI,AB #30 inhal* NEAR2 (corticosteroid* or steroid*) #31 fluticasone #32 budesonide #33 beclomethasone #34 triamcinolone #35 flunisolide #36 #29 OR #30 OR #31 OR #32 OR #33 OR #34 OR #35 #37 #6 AND #28 AND #36

MEDLINE

#1 COPD[MeSH Terms] #2 LAMA #3 (long-acting OR "long acting") AND "Muscarinic Antagonists" [Mesh] #4 tiotropium #5 aclidinium #6 glycopyrronium #7 umeclidinium #8 darotropium OR GSK233705 #9 (#2 OR #3 OR #4 OR #5 OR #6 OR #7 OR #8) #10 LABA #11 (long-acting OR "long acting") AND "Adrenergic beta-2 Receptor Agonists" [Mesh] #12 salmeterol #13 formoterol #14 bambuterol #15 vilanterol #16 indacaterol #17 olodaterol #18 carmoterol #19 abediterol OR LAS100977 #20 PF-610355 #21 (#10 OR #11 OR #12 OR #13 OR #14 OR #15 OR #16 OR #17 OR #18 OR #19 OR #20)

Inhaled corticosteroids with combination inhaled long-acting beta2-agonists and long-acting muscarinic antagonists for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Review)

#22 QVA149 #23 (#9 AND #21) OR #22 #24 ICS #25 "inhaled corticosteroid*" OR "inhaled steroid*" #26 fluticasone #27 budesonide #28 beclomethasone #29 triamcinolone #30 flunisolide #31 (#24 OR #25 OR #26 OR #27 OR #28 OR #29 OR #30) #32 randomised controlled trial [pt] #33 controlled clinical trial [pt] #34 randomised [tiab] #35 placebo [tiab] #36 clinical trials as topic [mesh: noexp] #37 randomly [tiab] #38 trial [ti] #39 (#32 OR #33 OR #34 OR #35 OR #36 OR #37 OR #38) #40 (animals [mh] NOT humans [mh]) #41 (#1 AND #23 AND #31 AND #39) NOT #36 #42 #41 AND (("2014/01/01"[Date - Publication] : "3000"[Date - Publication]))

Embase

#1 exp chronic obstructive lung disease/ #2 LAMA.mp. #3 (long-acting) AND (exp muscarinic receptor blocking agent/) #4 exp tiotropium bromide/ #5 exp aclidinium bromide/ #6 exp glycopyrronium bromide/ #7 exp umeclidinium/ #8 exp darotropium bromide/ #9 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 #10 LABA.mp. #11 (long-acting) AND (exp beta 2 adrenergic receptor stimulating agent/) #12 exp salmeterol/ #13 exp formoterol/ #14 exp bambuterol/ #15 exp vilanterol/ #16 exp indacaterol/ #17 exp olodaterol/ #18 exp carmoterol/ #19 exp abediterol/ #20 exp pf 610355/ #21 10 or 11 or 12 or 13 or 14 or 15 or 16 or 17 or 18 or 19 or 20 #22 exp glycopyrronium bromide plus indacaterol/ #23 (9 and 21) or 22 #24 ICS.mp. #25 inhaled corticosteroid*.mp. or inhaled steroid*.mp. #26 exp fluticasone/ #27 exp budesonide/ #28 exp beclometasone/ #29 exp triamcinolone/

Inhaled corticosteroids with combination inhaled long-acting beta₂-agonists and long-acting muscarinic antagonists for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Review)

Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

17

#30 exp flunisolide/
#31 24 or 25 or 26 or 27 or 28 or 29 or 30
#32 1 and 23 and 31
#33 limit 32 to (human and (randomised controlled trial or controlled clinical trial) and yr="2014 -Current")

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

Daniel Tan, Clinton White and Julia Walters authored the first draft of the review. Haydn Walters commented and contributed to revisions.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

J Walters received funding from Menarini for conference travel. The grant was awarded by Lung Foundation Australia via a competitive process that was not influenced by Menarini. EH Walters received payment from GSK for educational seminars for healthcare practitioners and an institutional research grant from Boehringer Ingelheim for unrelated work. No conflicts of interest are known for DJ Tan and CJ White.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

• Breathe Well NHMRC Centre of Research Excellence, University of Tasmania, Australia. Office and logistic support to all authors

External sources

• Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing, Australia.

- Funding to JAEW Coordination support, Cochrane Airways Australia
 - Asthma Foundation Tasmania, Australia.

Cochrane Airways Australia Scholarship to DT and CW